RECEIVED

Apr 02 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2019-001719

---

Innovative Waste Management Inc., Respondent,

v.

Crest Energy Partners, GP, LLC, Dunhill Products GP, LLC, Henry Wuertz, Innovative Waste Management, Inc., Crest Energy Partners LP, Dunhill Products LP, Edward H. Girardeau, C. Russ Lloyd, Defendants, Of Whom,

Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, Crest Energy Partners LP, Dunhill Products, LP, and Henry Wuertz are the Appellants.

---

**APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF**

---

David B. Marvel  
P.O. Box 22734

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- 1) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in compelling the Appellants to execute authorizations for detailed corporate and personal financial records unrelated and irrelevant to the plaintiff's claims?
- 2) Did the trial court otherwise err as a matter of law in its Order to Compel?
- 3) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in finding that the Appellants failed to comply with an enforceable discovery order authorizing sanctions under Rule 37, SCRCP?
- 4) Did the trial court abuse its discretion in striking Appellants' pleadings as a sanction under Rule 37(b)(2)(C)?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The dispute underlying this case arose from a series of three petroleum industry trades involving Respondent Innovative Waste Management (“IWM”) and Appellant Crest Energy Partners, L.P., formerly known as Dunhill Products, L.P. (“Crest”). The first transaction involved a shipment of petroleum slops from Montreal, Quebec to St. Charles, Louisiana in December 2009. The second and third transactions involved product that IWM had brokered from certain Shell Oil subsidiaries to Crest, in March and April 2010, from facilities in Mobile, Alabama, and St. Rose, Louisiana.

At the time of these transactions, former Defendant Rodney Bridge and current Defendant Edward Girardeau were employees of IWM. Each voluntarily left their employment with IWM to become employees of Crest in late April 2010.

IWM claims that Crest owes IWM approximately \$1,050,000 from the 2010 transactions. IWM also claims that Girardeau, Bridge, Crest, and Crest principal Henry Wuertz engaged in a fraudulent scheme to steal product, clients, and trade secrets.<sup>1</sup> The Crest Defendants deny IWM’s claims outright, and further aver that IWM owes Crest over \$300,000 from the transactions, after set-off. From these allegations, IWM’s Second Amended Complaint asserts ten separate causes of action against the Crest Defendants. IWM asserts three additional claims against Crest, but not against Wuertz Individually (ROA 58-86).

---

<sup>1</sup> The Complaint named two Crest entities and two Dunhill entities as defendants, along with the individual defendants. Well before the filing of this case, the Dunhill entities executed name changes to become the Crest entities. The undersigned represented all of the defendants below until March 2014 when Defendant Bridge, no longer employed by or with any other defendant, obtained new counsel, entered into a settlement with IWM, and was released. Defendant Girardeau remains a defendant below, is now represented by separate counsel, and is not a party to this appeal. The Crest entities and Wuertz are the Appellants, together referred to as the “Crest Defendants” herein. The defendants named below are collectively referred to as “defendants”.

IWM originally filed suit in the United States District Court for the District of South Carolina on April 29, 2011. That case proceeded through discovery before it was dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on May 10, 2012. On May 11, 2012, IWM filed the instant lawsuit in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas, based on the same facts previously alleged in federal court.

As discovery began to proceed in state court, defense counsel (including the undersigned) failed, through conflict and oversight, to respond in a timely fashion to certain Interrogatories and Request for Production that had been served by IWM's counsel on October 2, 2012. IWM filed its first Motion to Compel in State Court on January 31, 2013. (ROA 205-208). The parties discussed and ultimately entered into an initial consent agreement on the Motion to Compel which was submitted as a proposed Consent Order. (ROA 4-6). Thereafter, Defendants filed a Motion for Protective Order (ROA 278-281), and Plaintiff filed an Amended Motion to Compel (ROA 282-290), which was heard by The Hon. Edgar W. Dickson on April 1, 2013 (ROA 110-150). The March 15, 2013 proposed Consent Order was signed by Judge Dickson on April 2 and filed on April 5, 2013 (ROA 4-6). Judge Dickson's Order from the April 1, 2013 hearing was signed on June 3 and filed on August 22, 2013 (ROA 7-10).

Unfortunately, the parties disagreed about the outcome of the April 1, 2013 hearing. Defendants filed a second Motion for Protective Order on August 21, 2013 (ROA 327-329). IWM Filed a Second Motion to Compel in response (ROA 394-412). Although Judge Dickson had previously indicated he was retaining jurisdiction over the discovery issues in this case, those motions were ultimately heard by The Hon. Diane S. Goodstein. Judge Goodstein's Order on the discovery motions was filed on October 3, 2013 (ROA 11-13). Judge Goodstein's Order granting, in part, defendants Motion to Dismiss was filed November 18, 2013 (ROA 14-18).

Judge Goodstein designated the case complex and assigned it to The Hon Maite Murphy on March 10, 2014. (ROA 30-31). IWM filed a Second Amended Complaint that same date, mostly restating the original causes of action. (ROA 58-86). As discovery continued, IWM served certain out-of-state subpoenas on Margavio & Schmidt CPAs in New Orleans, and Wells Fargo Bank, in Houston, seeking detailed financial records of or relating to the Crest Defendants. (ROA 541-548). Defendants sought a third Protective Order by way of a Motion to Quash filed on December 5, 2014 (ROA 539-540). That motion was heard by Judge Murphy on April 6, 2015 and denied by an Order issued that same day (ROA 36-38).

For reasons unrelated to this Appeal, the case was dismissed by the Clerk of Court, Judge Murphy denied IWM's motion to reinstate the case, and then denied IWM's Rule 59 Motion. IWM appealed, which ultimately resulted this Court's opinion in Innovative Waste Mgmt. Inc. v. Crest Energy Partners GP, LLC, 423 S.C. 611, 815 S.E.2d 780 (Ct. App. 2018), aff'd as modified, 425 S.C. 568, 571, 824 S.E.2d 214 (2019). The case was remitted to the trial court on February 27, 2019.

Soon thereafter, IWM served a second subpoena on Margavio & Schmidt in New Orleans. On April 17, 2019, Margavio & Schmidt filed a Motion to Quash that subpoena in Jefferson Parish, Louisiana, which was granted on June 10, 2019 (ROA 603-604). On May 15, 2019, IWM filed a Third Motion to Compel in this case, seeking to compel the production of certified financial statements and also seeking to compel the Crest Defendants to execute releases for the Margavio & Schmidt and Wells Fargo documents. (ROA 570-591).

The Third Motion to Compel was heard by Judge Murphy on June 5, 2019 and granted by Order filed June 18, 2019 (ROA 40-42). The Crest Defendants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend

on June 25, 2019 (ROA 667-669) which was partially granted in part but mostly denied by Judge Murphy's Order of August 1, 2019 (ROA 43-45).

On August 30, 2019, undersigned counsel transmitted a letter to Judge Murphy detailing the effort and progress that had been made to comply with her Orders, advising the court that Crest wished to appeal her most recent Orders, and requesting that the court issue a finding of contempt so that the Orders would be immediately appealable (ROA 754-756). In response, IWM filed a Motion for Sanctions. (ROA 672-683) which was heard on September 23, 2019 (ROA 176-204).

On October 1, 2019, Judge Murphy issued an Order granting IWM's Motion for Sanctions and striking the Answers and Counterclaims of the Crest Defendants. (ROA 46-57). This Appeal follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The scope of discovery is generally within the trial court's discretion, and a trial court ruling on discovery matters is reviewed for abuse of that discretion. A trial court's selection of a sanction is likewise usually a matter of discretion. Griffin Grading and Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment, 334 S.C. 193, 511 S.E.2d 716 (1999). Appellants bear the burden of establishing that the trial court abused that discretion. Clark v. Ross, 284 S.C. 543, 328 S.E.2d 91 (Ct.App.1985). In determining whether there has been an abuse of discretion all of the facts and circumstances must be evaluated. Edwards v. Ferguson, 254 S.C. 278, 283, 175 S.E.2d 224, 226 (1970).

The trial court must make an effort to impose reasonable discovery limits. The trial court abuses its discretion by ordering discovery that exceeds that permitted by the rules of procedure. Oncology & Hematology Assocs. of S.C., LLC v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env'tl. Control, 387 S.C. 380, 388, 692 S.E.2d 920, 924 (2010). The trial court also will be found to have abused its discretion when a discovery ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. Fields v. Regional Medical Center Orangeburg, 363 S.C. 19, 609 S.E.2d 506 (2005). If the trial court's conclusion reached was without reasonable factual support and resulted in prejudice to the rights of appellant, it amounts to an error of law and therefore an abuse of discretion. E.g., Dunn v. Dunn, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989); Halverson v. Yawn, 328 S.C. 618, 493 S.E.2d 883 (1997); Carlyle v. Tuomey Hosp., 305 S.C. 187, 193, 407 S.E.2d 630, 633 (1991); Fontaine v. Peitz, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987).

## **LAW AND ARGUMENT**

The lower court's Order striking the pleadings pursuant to Rule 37(b)(2)(C) was an abuse of discretion because the lower court failed to address the required factors when fashioning the sanction and because the Crest Defendants had not, in fact, violated any proper Order of the court. The prior Order that the Crest Defendants purportedly violated was likewise an abuse of discretion because it was based on errors of law and was an improper collateral review of two prior discovery Orders. As addressed further below, these Orders are unsupported by the record or the law, and therefore the decision of the trial court must be Reversed.

### **I. THE APPLICABLE RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE**

The Court is called upon to review several discovery orders under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. When interpreting the meaning of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes. Ex parte Wilson, 367 S.C. 7, 15, 625 S.E.2d 205, 209 (2005). If a rule's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary, and the stated meaning should be enforced. Id.

Rule 26, SCRCP controls the scope of discovery. Generally, a party may seek discovery on any non-privileged matter which is relevant to the case, so long as the information sought appears reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Rule 26 (b), SCRCP.

Rule 33, SCRCP provides that "any party may serve upon any other party written interrogatories to be answered by the party served . . . who shall furnish such information as is available to the party." Rule 33 (b) provides a set of standard interrogatories that may be served in any case. While a party in most cases may also serve general interrogatories, "the total number of general interrogatories to any one party shall not exceed fifty questions including subparts, except by leave of court upon good cause shown." Rule 33 (b)(9), SCRCP.

Rule 34, SCRCPP allows a party to:

serve on any other party a request (1) to produce . . . any designated documents, or electronically stored information . . . or to inspect and copy, test, or sample any tangible things which constitute or contain matters within the scope of Rule 26 (b) and which are in the possession, custody or control of the party upon whom the request is served

Rule 34 (a), SCRCPP. When a party seeks documents or inspection from a non-party, the discovering party may serve a subpoena on the non-party under Rule 45, SCRCPP to “produce and permit inspection and copying of designated books, documents or tangible things in the possession, custody or control of that person, or to permit inspection of premises, at a time and place therein specified”. Rule 45 (1)(c).

The trial court is required to limit the use of use of discovery methods where:

i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative, or is obtainable from some other source that is more convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; (ii) the party seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by discovery in the action to obtain the information sought; or (iii) the discovery is unreasonably burdensome or expensive taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in controversy, limitations on the parties' resources, and the importance of the issues at stake in the litigation.

Rule 26 (a), SCRCPP.

To enforce this limitation, a party (or other responding party) may seek a Protective Order from the Court pursuant to Rule 26 (c). If the moving party establishes good cause for a Protective Order, the court may issue “any order which justice requires”, and specifically may order:

1) that the discovery not be had; (2) that the discovery may be had only on specified terms and conditions, including a designation of the time or place; (3) that the discovery may be had only by a method of discovery other than selected by the party seeking discovery; (4) that certain matters not be inquired into or that the scope of the discovery be limited to certain matters; (5) that discovery be conducted with no one present except persons designated by the court; (6) that a deposition after being sealed be opened only by

order of the court; (7) that a trade secret or other confidential research, development, or commercial information not be disclosed or be disclosed only in a designated way; (8) that the parties simultaneously file specified documents or information enclosed in sealed envelopes to be opened as directed by the court.

Rule 26 (c), SCRCF. In addition to these remedies, a non-party served with a subpoena under Rule 45 may move to quash the subpoena under Rule 45 (c)(3).

Discovery is enforced under Rule 37, SCRCF. If a party fails to answer an interrogatory or fails to respond to a Rule 34 request that inspection will be permitted, “the discovering party may move for an order compelling an answer or . . . inspection in accordance with the request.” Rule 37(a)(2). Likewise, if the party served with a request under Rule 34 objects, fails to respond to any part of the request, or fails to permit inspection, “the party submitting the request may move for an order under Rule 37(a). Rule 34 (b), SCRCF. The court may issue an order compelling discovery or “may make such protective order as it would have been empowered to make on a motion made pursuant to Rule 26 (c).” Id.

If a party fails to obey an order compelling discovery, the court “may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just”, including issuing:

- (A) An order that the matters regarding which the order was made or any other designated facts shall be taken to be established for the purposes of the action in accordance with the claim of the party obtaining the order;
- (B) An order refusing to allow the disobedient party to support or oppose designated claims or defenses, or prohibiting him from introducing designated matters in evidence;
- (C) An order striking out pleadings or parts thereof, or staying further proceedings until the order is obeyed, or dismissing the action or proceeding or any part thereof, or rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party;

Rule 37(b)(2), SCRCF. The court is also empowered to make a finding of contempt under Rule 37(b)(2)(D) or order the party or attorney to pay costs and fees caused by the failure. Rule 37(b), SCRCF.

## **II. IWM'S INITIAL DISCOVERY REQUESTS VIOLATED THE CIVIL RULES**

IWM's first discovery requests in the state court action, served on October 2, 2012, consisted of four sets of Interrogatories and Requests to Produce. (ROA 209-243). One set was directed to the entity defendants collectively, the other three to defendants Wuertz, Bridge, and Girardeau individually. The discovery was certainly comprehensive, covering a swath of general matters but also including pointed inquiries to matters that had arisen in the federal court case. Each set of interrogatories included at least seventy and perhaps over one hundred fifty separate inquiries, depending on how one defines a subpart. Rule 33 (b)(9), SCRCF.

IWMs discovery included two specific lines of inquiry pertinent to this Appeal. The first relates to IWM's claim that Bridge and Girardeau usurped certain corporate opportunities when they left their employment with IWM to become employees of Crest. On this issue, IWM's First Interrogatories to Wuertz, Bridge, and Girardeau directed each of them to:

State whether you had any business dealings with the following companies prior to April 2010 and, if so, please describe such business and indicate the names, addresses and telephone numbers of any persons who you dealt with at such businesses:

- a. Gulf Stream Tanker Chartering
- b. Shell Oil
- c. Amspec L.L.C.
- d. Sunoco
- e. Dow
- f. Albermarle
- g. Exxon
- h. United Solutions Inc.
- i. Colonial Pipeline
- j. Texas Molecular
- k. Cross Oil
- l. Esso/Imperial Oil

- m. Conoco Phillips
- n. CVR Energy Coffeerville Resources
- o. Century ORO Signal Oil and Chemical Co.
- p. Eastman Chemical
- q. Lion Oil, and
- r. Macquarie Energy Trading.

(ROA 237-38, 247-48, 255-57) The next interrogatory requested those items of information for the same eighteen companies “since April 2010” (ROA 237-38, 247-48, 255-57).

IWM propounded a corresponding interrogatory to Crest to:

State whether you currently conduct any business or have an existing business relationship with the [same list of eighteen] companies and, if so, please describe such business or business relationship; indicate the month and year that such relationship began; state the names, addresses and telephone numbers of the persons at such company with whom you conduct business and state the amount of income that such business has generated for you or any other Defendant in this litigation since April 2010.

(ROA 265-66).

IWM’s discovery also sought comprehensive information on financial matters of Bridge, Girardeau, and Wuertz unrelated to the facts alleged in the Complaint. This inquiry included the directive for Bridge, Girardeau, and Wuertz to:

- Set forth any and all real and personal property owned, whether individually, collectively, or otherwise owned including with other third-parties, including but not limited to the following;
- a. Any and All domestic or offshore bank accounts, including, checking, savings, money market, or otherwise, in the name of Defendants, including without limitation balances, names of accounts, location of accounts, holder of accounts, etc.;
  - b. Any and all certificated of deposits, stock certificates in any publicly held or closely held corporation, as well as any bonds owned by Defendants, membership interest in any and all limited liability companies, partnership interest in any and all partnerships, and any and all interest in any other form of business entity, including joint ventures, whether domestic or offshore, detailing without limitations and with particularity

- percentage of ownership, amount of revenue generated for each entity;
- c. Any and all titles to vehicles, mobile homes, or water craft owned by Defendants, detailing a description of each item including year, model, serial number, vehicle identification number, present value and the amount of any lien thereon;
  - d. Any and all deeds, Mortgages, Notes, Contracts of Sale, and Settlement or closing Statements relating to any real estate transactions involving Defendants;
  - e. Any and all real property, including without limitation (county. state.jurisdiction), whether domestic or offshore;
  - f. Any and all life insurance policies owned by Defendants, along with any information pertaining to any loans outstanding on any of said policies;
  - g. Any and all items of jewelry or art owned by Defendants, including a description of each item and its most appraised evaluation;
  - h. Any and all lease of realty or personally in favor of Defendants;
  - i. Any and all books, recorded, documents, or writings concerning the financial status of defendants not herein before specified, including any and all interest in any form of trust, and
  - j. Any and all tax receipts, tax returned tax supplemental forms, and any and all other documents, forms or letters filed with the United States Internal Revenue Service, and any other State Tax authority within the last five years.

(ROA 240-42, 251-52, 260-62).

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