THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Hon. Maite D. Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_  
Case No. 2019-001719  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**  
**Sep 23 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

Innovative Waste Management  
Inc.,

Respondent,

v.

Crest Energy Partners GP, Crest  
Energy Partners LP, Dunhill  
Products LP, Henry Wuertz,

Appellants.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Wm. Michael Gruenloh  
Thomas F. Drazan  
Gruenloh Law Firm  
67 Moultrie Street, Second Floor  
Charleston, SC 29403  
(843) 577-0027  
Attorney for the Respondent

September 23, 2020  
Charleston, South Carolina

##

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

### **Law and Argument**

The Appellants have addressed a variety of arguments seeking to undermine the previous orders of the trial court but the only Order properly before the court is the October 1, 2019 order granting sanctions. As such, the only reviewable question before this Court is whether the October 1, 2019 Order was entered in error.

Upon a finding that the October 1, 2019 order is the only order properly before the Court the review of the order is limited to evaluating whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting sanctions. In awarding sanctions pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 37 the trial court must have considered four factors in order to justify the grant of sanctions: 1) the nature of the discovery sought, 2) the discovery posture of the case, 3) the degree of prejudice caused by their failures 4) the willfulness of the conduct. *See, Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (1997). If the sanction is tantamount to entering default, as it is in this case, the moving party must demonstrate bad faith, willful disobedience to the rules of discovery or the court, or gross

indifference to the rights of the other party. *See, Griffin Grading and Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment Manufacturing Co., Inc.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198-199, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 -719 (S.C. App. 1999)(citing *Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C.101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991)).

**I. IS THE ONLY ORDER PRESERVED AND PROPERLY ON APPEAL THE OCTOBER 1, 2019 ORDER GRANTING SANCTIONS?**

The October 1, 2019 Order of the Court is the only order properly before the Court on Appeal. The trial court granted Respondent's Motion pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 37, finding that Appellants had willfully abused the discovery process, making the impending date certain trial impossible, prejudiced the Respondent through their conduct and warranted the striking of their pleadings. Appellants brought this appeal challenging the October 1<sup>st</sup> Order as well as attacking the validity of the trial court's earlier orders.

Appellants inappropriately attempt to bootstrap a review of all the prior discovery orders of the trial court into their appeal of the October 1, 2019 order granting sanctions. Appellants argue that the prior discovery orders of the trial court including the March 15, 2013 Consent Order, the June 3, 2013 Order granting Respondent's Amended Motion to Compel, the September 27, 2013 Order granting Respondent's Second Motion to Compel, the April 6, 2015 Order denying the Motion to Quash, the June 18, 2019 Order Granting Respondent's Third Motion to Compel, and the August 1, 2019 Order reaffirming the Grant of Respondent's Third Motion to Compel in response to Appellants S.C.R.C.P. 59(e) motion were all entered in error and cannot be used to support the Court's October 1, 2019 Order granting sanctions. (Appellants' brief at 14 – 24.) However, Appellants did not request to be held in contempt or appeal any of these prior orders and so they are not subject to this appeal.

Orders which are not appealed are the law of the case and therefore are not proper for review before this Court. *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778,

785 (2013). (An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance and reliance.)  
*See Also, Johnson v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 285 S.C. 80, 82, 328 S.E.2d 75, 76 (1985), *Cooper Tire and Rubber Co. v. Perry*, 201 S.E.2d 245 (1973). Additionally, if a party complies in anyway with an order, they lose the ability to later challenge that order.

“An order directing a party to participate in discovery is interlocutory and not directly appealable . . . . Instead of appealing immediately, a non-party has two alternatives. He may either comply with the discovery order and waive any right to challenge it on appeal, or refuse to comply with the order and appeal after he is held in contempt for his failure to comply." *Ex parte Whetstone*, 289 S.C. 580, 347 S.E.2d 881, 882 (1986).

Much of Appellant’s brief is spent challenging the validity of the June 12, 2019 Order granting Respondent’s Third Motion to Compel. That order sanctioned Appellants and ordered Appellants to sign authorizations for the release of banking and accounting records, provide sworn certified financial statements, made the finding that Appellants failed to “produce relevant discoverable material to Plaintiff” and awarded attorneys fees. (June 18, 2019 Order)

A review of the procedural history reveals that Order is not subject to this Appeal. Appellants filed their Motion to Alter or Amend a Judgment pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 59(e) on June 25, 2019. (June 25, 2019 Motion to Alter or Amend ) On August 1, 2019 the Court entered a Form 4 order which amended the Motion Granting the Third Motion to Compel allowing Authorized Principals or Accounting Professionals to sign the authorizations and the remainder of the relief requested by Appellants was denied. (August 1, 2019 FORM 4 Order) Appellants had two choices at that time, 1) request contempt and challenge the order on appeal or, 2) comply with the order and waive their right to appeal it later. Appellants accepted August 1, 2019 ruling, failing to follow proper procedure for being held in contempt and therefore waived

their right to challenge the order on appeal. The following language from *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, is analogous to the current facts:

“Appellants did not follow that [being held in contempt] route here. Rather, they continued along in the litigation, attempting to divert the implementation of the court's rulings by providing incomplete responses and causing delay through other tactics while they decided whether or not to surrender to the possibility of being held in contempt of court. However, during this time, Appellants continued to accept the circuit court's formulation of discovery. Right or wrong, these decisions form the law of the case, and Appellants are bound by them now.” *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 281, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2014)

Appellants did not make any request to be held in contempt regarding the June 12, 2019 or August 1, 2019 Orders as required by *Davis*. Instead the record reflects they acted just as the appellant did in *Davis*; Appellants made repeated assurances<sup>9</sup> that they would provide the ordered discovery and comply with the August 1, 2019 Order. (Motion for Sanctions Exhibit 2 and October 1, 2013 Order at pg 5-7) In addition, Appellants partially complied with August 1, 2019 Order by providing some of the ordered discovery between August 1, 2019 and August 30, 2019. (Motion for Sanctions pg 6 and Motion for Sanctions Exhibit 2) After a month of feigning compliance with the order, Appellants served what purported to be a Notice of Appeal of the prior discovery orders delivered by Courier to Respondent's office on September 3, 2019 and signed August 30, 2019. (Motion for Sanctions Exhibit 2) The orders Appellants sought to appeal in their August 30<sup>th</sup> un-filed Notice of Appeal were the very same orders that Appellants' counsel represented he would comply with and for which he provided partial responses. (Motion for Sanctions Exhibit 2) Appellants later admitted in open Court that the purported notice of appeal was never filed with any court. (September 23, 2019 Transcript at 20) After repeated

---

<sup>9</sup> Appellants' Counsel sent e-mails stating he was continuing to attempt to comply with the order on August 12, August 19, August 28, and August 30. (Motion for Sanctions Exhibit 2)

assurances from Appellants that they were complying with the August 1, 2019 order of the Court and would soon provide the ordered materials but failed to, Respondent filed their Motion for Sanctions on September 13, 2019. (Motion for Sanctions)

Appellants filed no response to the Motion for Sanctions and a hearing on the matter was held on September 23, 2019. (Dorchester County Docket and Transcript September 23, 2019 Hearing) On October 1, 2019 the trial court granted Respondent's Motion for Sanctions and struck Appellants' pleadings. (October 1, 2019 Order) On October 9, 2019 Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal. (Notice of Appeal)

The Supreme Court of South Carolina addressed a similar circumstance to this case in *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*. The Court in addressing appellants' challenges to a privilege order and prior discovery order stated,

“Only after Respondents filed a motion for sanctions, and Appellants were found to be in contempt of court as part of those sanctions, did they appeal. While this was a final order for purposes of appellate review, as it ordered dismissal of the case, the merits of the underlying discovery orders are not before this Court on appeal. Thus, despite Appellants' vehement objections to the Privilege Order and Discovery Order, the only reviewable question before this Court is whether the sanctions were properly awarded.” *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 281, 726 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2012).

As such, the trial court's October 1, 2019 order granting sanctions pursuant to S.C.R.C.P. 37 is the only order which has been properly appealed. Appellants failed to preserve any issues related to the orders entered prior to the October 1, 2019 Order; therefore they are now the law of the case. *See, e.g., Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013), *Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 726 S.E.2d 535 (2012), *Johnson v. S.C. Nat'l Bank*, 328 S.E.2d 75, 76 (1985), *Cooper Tire and Rubber Co. v. Perry*, 201 S.E.2d 245 (1973).

*Davis v. Parkview* clearly illustrates that if Appellants fail to appeal the discovery orders, which in a later order for sanctions, make up the grounds for the sanction, the Appellant Court may only review whether the trial court has abused its discretion in granting the Sanction. Any issues pertaining to the underlying discovery orders have been waived. *See, Davis v. Parkview Apartments*, 409 S.C. 266, 281, 726 S.E.2d 535, 543 (2012).

## **II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN GRANTING THE OCTOBER 1, 2019 MOTION STRIKING APPELLANTS PLEADINGS?**

Pursuant to Rule 37, S.C.R.C.P., when a party fails to respond to discovery requests or obey an order to provide or permit discovery, the court may “make such orders in regard to the failure as are just.” Rule 37(b)(2), S.C.R.C.P.. “Rule 37 expressly grants the trial court power to order judgment by default for either violation of a court order, or upon motion, for a party’s failure to respond to certain discovery requests.” *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E. 2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing Rule 37(b)(2)(C) & (d)). The decision to award sanctions is entrusted to the discretion of the trial court. *QZO, Inc. v. Moyer*, 358 S.C. 246, 255, 594 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2004).

This Court, has addressed the issue of discovery sanctions numerous times, including the appropriateness of a trial court’s decision to strike the pleadings of a party. When determining the proper sanction, the Court considers the precise nature of the discovery sought, the discovery posture of the case, the degree of the prejudice and the willfulness of the parties’ conduct. See *Samples v. Mitchell*, 329 S.C. 105, 112, 495 S.E.2d 213, 216 (1997). If the court finds the conduct offends these factors a sanction is justified.

In this case, “[w]here the sanction would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience, or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction.” *Griffin Grading and Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Service Equipment*

*Manufacturing Co., Inc.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198-199, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 -719 (S.C. App. 1999)(citing *Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C.101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991)).

### **The Nature of the Discovery Sought**

In evaluating the first factor, the underlying discovery orders which are not subject to this Appeal demonstrate that Respondents sought the financial discovery through numerous discovery requests and subpoenas and that the information sought was relevant, not privileged, and discoverable. The record reflects that the trial court found Appellants' accounting records and banking records to be relevant and necessary to the claims of economic damage and there are ample examples in the record of Respondent's arguments and the trial court's orders to that effect. ( *See* April 5, 2015 Order Denying Motion to Quash, Transcript June 5, 2019 Hearing, June 18, 2019 Order granting MTC, September 27, 2013 Order granting 2<sup>nd</sup> MTC, RA# 3<sup>rd</sup> motion to compel pg 1) The record also reflects that Respondent attempted to procure the sought after discovery through numerous methods (discovery requests, subpoenas, deposition and finally by authorization) before asking for relief in their Third Motion to compel in the form of the requested authorizations.

Perhaps most telling is that Appellants sought discovery of the same nature, banking records for the Respondent and its principal owner. The difference being that after Respondent filed a Motion to Quash, engaged in meaningful discussions regarding the scope of the subpoena, and withdrew their Motion to Quash and cooperated with Appellants in acquiring the discovery. (April 6, 2015 Consent Order regarding Regions Bank) Considering the claims and counterclaims both alleged economic losses it would seem logical that the discovery was proper as to both parties.

### **The Discovery Posture of the Case And Prejudice**

At the time of the filing of the Motion for Sanctions, this case had been in the South Carolina State Courts for seven years. The Court found that, prior to the Motion for Sanctions, three separate motions to compel filed by Respondent had been granted and Appellants' objections and motions to quash had been denied. (June 3, 2013 Order, September 27, 2013 Order, April 6, 2015 Order Denying Motion to Quash, June 12, 2019 Order) At the time of the hearing for the Motions for Sanctions, the date certain trial was 56 days away and pretrial motions due in 26 days. Discovery which was central to Respondent's claims of economic damage should have been produced long before the Court needed to address the Motion for Sanctions.

The discovery rules exist to ensure full and fair disclosure, removing either party from trial by surprise. *Samples* at 113. Citing, *State Highway Dep't v. Booker*, 260 S.C. 245, 252, 195 S.E.2d 615, 619 (1973) "Essentially, the rights of discovery provided by the rules give the trial lawyer the means to prepare for trial, and when these rights are not accorded, prejudice must be presumed. Unless the party who has failed to submit to discovery can show lack of prejudice, reversal is required." *Samples* at 113-14. (*Internal Citations removed*) Appellants continued to frustrate discovery into a key claim of the case, a claim the trial court's unappealed orders state was relevant and discoverable, up and through the eve of trial. With the date certain trial pending Respondent was left without the time to properly explore the discovery sought and prejudice could be presumed by the trial court.

### **Willfulness of the Conduct**

The trial court found that Appellants' conduct was willful as required in *Samples*, for the grant of a sanction but, further more found that Appellants' were willfully disobedient and their conduct constituted bad faith pursuant to *Griffin*. In the Order granting sanctions the Court

makes the finding that prior to the Motion for Sanctions, the Courts had granted three separate motions to compel and denied a motion to quash. (October 1, 2019 Order June 3, 2013 Order, September 27, 2013 Order, April 6, 2015 Order Denying Motion to Quash, June 12, 2019 Order) The Court found that monetary sanctions were awarded in response to these orders yet, the monetary sanctions did not change the behavior of Appellants. (October 1, 2019 Order at pg. 9) The Court found that Appellants made representations to the Court and Respondent which they never intended to honor and demonstrated through their repeated assurances that compliance was forthcoming, only to later file motions for protective orders, a notice of appeal purporting to appeal unappealable discovery orders and finally requested a finding of contempt on the eve of trial. (October 1, 2019 Order at pg. 9 ¶1, pg. 10¶1, Plaintiffs 1<sup>st</sup> Amended Motion to Compel, 2nd Motion to Compel Exhibit E, Memorandum in Response to Motion to Quash)

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